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2009 ANNUAL REPORT

PRESIDENT'S FOREWORD

ince its opening in 1941, the National Gallery of Art has offered its visitors a remarkable oppor-

tunity to experience the world’s artistic treasures. Nearly five million people visited the Gallery in

fiscal year 2009, underscoring the important role this institution plays in the lives of Americans and

indeed in the lives of millions worldwide who visit the Gallery, either in person or online via our

Web site, wunv.nga.gov.

This year, visitors were treated to compelling special exhibitions, such as Pompeii and the Roman

Villa: Art and Culture around the Bay of Naples; Looking In: Robert Frank's “The Americans”; Luis Meléndez: Master
of the Spanish Still Life;and The Art of Power: Royal Armor and Portraits from Imperial Spain, along with an extraordi-
nary array of educational activities. These offerings would not be possible without the federal government’s
enduring commitment to support the Gallery’s maintenance and operations, as well as our special exhibitions
program. On behalf of the trustees and staff, | would like to extend our deep gratitude to the President and the
Congress for their role in making the Gallery one of the world’s great national art galleries. This federal support
is matched by generous individuals, foundations, and corporations, who make possible the Gallery’s privately
funded activities. We are grateful to all who help the Gallery fulfill its mission to acquire, exhibit, preserve, and
interpret works of art at the highest standards of excellence.

The Trustees’ Council, a national advisory body to the Board of Trustees, plays an invaluable role in providing
counsel and assistance to the Gallery. We extend a warm welcome to three new members who joined the Council
in 2009: Max N. Berry of Washington, DC; Fern M. Schad also of Washington; and Walter L. Weisman of
Los Angeles. We also were delighted to welcome returning members W. Russell G. Byers, Jr.; Melvin S. Cohen;
Robert W. Duemling; Barney A. Ebsworth; Robert L. Kirk; Michelle Smith; Ladislaus von Hoffmann; and
Andrea Woodner.

The Gallery marked a sad note in its history with the passing of Robert H. Smith, who began his leadership
role with the Gallery in 1982 when he became the first chair of the newly formed Trustees’ Council. In 1985,
he joined the Board of Trustees and in 1993 became president. Bob also played a pivotal role in several major
Gallery initiatives. After serving on the campaign committee for our Patrons’ Permanent Fund, in 1986 he
became founding co-chair, with Katharine Graham, of The Circle. In 1991 he chaired the Gallery’s Fiftieth
Anniversary Gift Committee and subsequently chaired our New Century Fund campaign.

We owe a profound debt of gratitude to Bob for his extraordinary legacy of leadership, connoisseurship,
and generosity. His stewardship and philanthropy will have a lasting impact on the Gallery, its collection, staff,
scholars, and visitors for generations to come.

We also were saddened by the deaths of several Gallery donors this past year, including former Trustees’
Council member Leonore Annenberg, who with her late husband, Walter, and The Annenberg Foundation,
made leadership gifts to promote cultural exchange with other countries through the Annenberg Fund for the
International Exchange of Art. We also mourned the loss of Heidi L. Berry, a former Trustees’ Council member,
who, along with her husband, Max, made possible several important American art acquisitions through their
gifts. Trustees’ Council member Ruth Cole Kainen also passed away in 2009; gifts of art from the Ruth and
Jacob Kainen Collection immeasurably enhanced the Gallery’s holdings in the graphic art of German
Expressionism. The spouses of current and former Trustees’ Council members—Donald Fisher, Frank Karel,
and Jane Stapleton—also passed away this year. We extend our sympathy to the families of these wonderful
Gallery supporters, all of whom will be missed.

My fellow trustees and I are grateful to the many generous donors who continue the philanthropic tradition begun
by the Gallery’s founder, Andrew W. Mellon. We would especially like to thank Greg and Candy Fazakerley

for their leadership commitment toward the purchase of Bagpipe Player, 1624, by Hendrick ter Brugghen.
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We are also appreciative of an anonymous bequest that will augment the Fund for Art Acquisition, a crucial
resource for our privately funded acquisition program. Our thanks also go to Gail and Benjamin Jacobs and
Robert E. Meyerhoff and Rheda Becker for their leadership commitments for the landmark acquisition of the
Jasper Johns collection of prints and related drawings. We are also grateful to those who made major commit-
ments this year in support of privately funded programs such as acquisitions, education, and scholarly research:
the HRH Foundation, Samuel H. Kress Foundation, John and Mary Pappajohn, Estate of Irma Seitz, and
Robert H. and Clarice Smith.

Special exhibitions are at the core of our public educational initiatives. The special exhibitions program was
sustained this year through the partnership of the federal government with the private sector. We would especially
like to thank Bank of America for its national sponsorship of Pompeii and the Roman Villa and Access Industries
and Len Blavatnik, founder and chairman of Access, for sponsorship of Looking In. Both of these corporations
returned for their second exhibition sponsorship, and we are grateful for their continued support.

The Exhibition Circle provided support for Luis Meléndez; An Antiquity of Imagination: Tullio Lombardo and
Venetian High Renaissance Sculpture; and Pompeii and the Roman Villa, which also was supported by a consortium
of donors, including Mr. and Mrs. Joe L. Allbritton, The Charles Engelhard Foundation, and Mary and Michael
Jaharis. We also are appreciative of the following donors’ dedication to our special exhibition programs this year:
Isabel and Alfred Bader, The Lynde and Harry Bradley Foundation, Robert W. and Louisa C. Duemling, Greg
and Candy Fazakerley, Mr. and Mrs. Thomas A. Saunders III, Robert H. Smith, the Trellis Fund, and Eijk and
Rose-Marie van Otterloo.

Through their annual gifts, the Collectors Committee plays an invaluable role in building the Gallery’s holdings
of modern and contemporary art. At its annual meeting in March, the Committee acquired for the Gallery an
outstanding work by Norman Lewis, Untitled (Alabama), 1967, the first work by Lewis to enter the Gallery’s
collection. We are grateful to the Committee’s co-chairs, John Pappajohn and Roselyne Swig, for their leadership
and to all Collectors Committee members for their ongoing generosity.

This year we welcomed Diana C. Prince of Washington, DC, to succeed the late Mary Jo Kirk as co-chair of
The Circle. She joins Ed Mathias in leading a program that numbers more than a thousand members nation-
wide and provides annual unrestricted funding for essential Gallery activities. Our heartfelt thanks go to Diana
and Ed for their leadership and to all Circle members for their dedication to the Gallery.

Numerous donors helped to secure the Gallery’s future through their participation in The Legacy Circle,
which recognizes those who have included the Gallery in their testamentary plans. Through bequests, charitable
gift annuities, charitable lead and remainder trusts, and other planned giving vehicles, Legacy Circle members
are ensuring the Gallery’s long-term success; we extend to them our heartfelt thanks.

The National Gallery of Art provides its visitors with a satisfying and educational experience of our shared
artistic heritage. The trustees are honored to help fulfill the Gallery’s mission of service to the nation. With the
ongoing support of the federal government and private donors, the Gallery will continue to attract those who
seek the enrichment that great art provides. All of us at the Gallery look forward to welcoming visitors from
near and far in the years ahead.

Diakeoa €. Sand”

Victoria P. Sant
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DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT

s the nation’s art museum, the National Gallery of Art is uniquely positioned to inspire,
educate, and interact with its many visitors. Never static, the Gallery continues to grow and
adapt to meet the needs of its audiences, while keeping true to the ideals upon which it was
founded. The activities of fiscal year 2009 show the Gallery’s commitment to providing
visitors with the highest standards in special exhibitions, the collection, and programs.

The Gallery is able to serve the nation by preserving, collecting, exhibiting, and fostering
an understanding of works of art through a dynamic combination of public and private support. We are grateful
to the President and the Congress for the crucial support through federal funds for the upkeep, administrative
expenses, and costs of operations, including the protection and care of the works of art given to the nation,
so that we can be open to the public at no charge. We are also grateful to many individuals, foundations, and
corporations for their generous support this year.

Continuing the tradition established by the Gallery’s founder Andrew W. Mellon and the Founding
Benefactors, private support enabled us to enrich the collection this year with significant works of art. The
acquisition of Hendrick ter Brugghen’s Bagpipe Player, 1624, fills a longstanding gap in our world-renowned
collection of Dutch paintings. Another thrilling acquisition was realized this year when the Gallery-
commissioned, treelike sculpture by Roxy Paine was installed in the Sculpture Garden. Graft is distinctively
appropriate for the setting, which balances art and nature within the urban, yet verdant nation’s capital.

This year the Gallery also acquired the collection of American prints belonging to Reba and Dave Williams
and The Print Research Foundation in Stamford, Connecticut. Unrivaled in its scope and among the world’s
largest and finest private holdings of American prints, the Williams® collection has extraordinary quality and
breadth. This transformational acquisition includes more than 5,250 works spanning a century from roughly 1875
to 1975 and representing 2,070 artists, giving the Gallery an entrely new standing in the field of American prints.

Shortly after the close of the fiscal year, we mourned the loss of Robert H. Smith. Bob’s contributions to art,
conservation, and scholarship are immeasurable. As Board president, he helped steer the Gallery through a
period of substantial growth. The Dutch Cabinet Galleries, the Sculpture Garden, and the West Building ground
floor Sculpture Galleries opened under his watch. As benefactors, he and his wife, Clarice, gave numerous gifts
of art to the collection since 1972. He provided a magnificent inaugural exhibition of Renaissance bronzes
from his personal collection for the opening of the Sculpture Galleries in 2002, and we were honored to present
Bronze and Boxwood: Renaissance Masterpieces from the Robert H. Smith Collection in 2008. Promised to the Gallery,
the Smith collection is one of the most important private holdings of Renaissance bronze sculpture.

Most recently, Bob made possible a rare opportunity to study and exhibit bronzes in the intriguing exhibitdon
The Budapest Horse: A Leonardo da Vinci Puzzle. At the request of the Museum of Fine Arts in Budapest, the
Gallery was pleased to include the study of the origins of The Rearing Horse and Mounted Warrior in its ongoing
Renaissance Bronze Research Project.

This year, eighteen other special exhibitions brought exceptional works to Washington, DC. The Art of Power:
Royal Armor and Portraits from Imperial Spain featured armor from the Spanish Royal Armory in Madrid as
well as portraits by masters. Paired with court portraits that exude a sense of gravity and formality, the armor
reinforced the power of the sitter.

For five months, the Gallery presented its first exhibition devoted to ancient Roman art, Pompeii and the Roman
Villa: Art and Culture around the Bay of Naples. It was an honor to bring this exhibition of exquisite archaeological
treasures to the nation’s capital, which is itself a monumental and living tribute to our Greek and Roman heritage.

As part of an ongoing program of exchanges between the Gallery and The Norton Simon Foundation in
Pasadena, California, Edouard Manet’s powerful Ragpicker, c. 1865—1869, was seen with The Old Musician, 1862,




NATIONAL GALLERY OF ART 2009

the Gallery’s great masterwork by Manet which recently underwent extensive conservation. It was a pleasure
for curators and conservators at the Gallery and the Norton Simon to rediscover important works in one
another’s collections that relate to masterpieces we each own.

Through another cultural exchange, the Gallery presented The Beffi Triptych: Preserving Abruzzo's Cultural
Heritage. The first work of art to be transported out of the region of Abruzzo, Italy, in the aftermath of a violent
earthquake, the altarpiece was loaned by the Italian government for display at the Gallery in gratitude to the
United States for being among the first to offer assistance to the region after the earthquake and as testimony
to the Italian commitment to restore fully the cultural heritage of the region. The exhibition of this treasured
fifteenth-century altarpiece in Washington further emphasized the United States’ strong ties to Italy and the
Gallery’s Italian collection and loan exhibition programs.

After two vyears of renovations, the American Galleries in the West Building reopened this year, displaying
some 150 paintings by virtually every important figure in American art from the eighteenth to the early
twentieth century and including many of these artists’ greatest masterpieces. Even before the Gallery opened to
the public in 1941, the Mellon Educational and Charitable Trust gave a gift of paintings as the foundation for a
section devoted to American art. Today we are the beneficiaries of Mellon’s vision and the generosity of many
donors who have made this collection of American art one of the world’s most outstanding.

The Tower Gallery also unveiled major changes this year. In the Tower: Philip Guston inaugurated a new series
in the East Building gallery and former home to the popular Matisse cut-outs. The Guston exhibition featured
seven major paintings and nine works on paper that were drawn from the Gallery’s collection. Dedicating the
Tower space to a series of focus exhibitions will bring to light the works of pivotal and emerging artists. We
hope that reinstalling the Matisse cut-outs in the Concourse galleries will make them accessible to more
visitors and inspire artists of all ages seeing these for the first time.

Visitors walking through the Concourse between the East and West Buildings now experience Multiverse,
the largest and most complex light sculpture by American artist Leo Villareal. Commissioned by the Gallery,
Multiverse creates an exuberant and mesmerizing environment that transforms the walkway.

Such exciting use of space, presentation of exhibitions, and meticulous care of the collections would not be
possible without the talented Gallery staff. This year, we were delighted to make several senior staff appoint-
ments. Nancy Anderson became head of the department of American and British paintings, Mary L. Levkoff
joined the Gallery as curator of sculpture and decorative arts, Mary Morton was named the Gallery’s curator
and head of the department of French paintings, and Mervin Richard was appointed chief of conservation.

This year some 4.8 million visitors enjoyed the collection, special exhibitions, and educational initiatives.
The Gallery’s Web site extended this experience to more than 16.7 million virtual visitors. The Board of
Trustees, staff, and volunteers, in partnership with the federal government and our generous donors, combine
to make the National Gallery of Art truly the nation’s art museum. We look forward to continuing the
tradition established by Andrew W. Mellon and to enriching the enjoyment and understanding of art at the
highest possible standards.

CeleHl-

Earl A. Powell 111
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PAINTINGS An exceedingly important painting
was added to the American collection in 2009:
Andrew Wyeth’s early masterpiece. Wind from the Sea,
1947, given by Charles H. Morgan.

Wyeth’s spare yet complex composition focuses on
the view from an upstairs window in the Maine home
of Alvaro and Christina Olson. Although no figure is
present, some critics have described the painting as a
symbolic portrait of Christina Olson, the haunting
figure in what may be Wyeth’s most famous painting,
Christina’s World. In an interview years after Wind from
the Sea was completed, Wyeth recalled his inspiration
for the painting: “It was a hot summer day in August, so
hot that I went over to that window, pushed it up about
six inches and as 1 stood there, looking out, all of a
sudden this curtain that had been lying there stale for
years...began slowly to rise, and the birds crocheted on
it began to move. My hair about stood on end. So |

drew it very quickly...I did many drawings for it because
I was so moved by that sudden thing.”

Founding director of the Mead Art Museum at
Ambherst College, Morgan acquired the painting early
in the 1950s. Among the picture’s most devoted
admirers was American poet Robert Frost who taught
at Amherst and when visiting the Morgan home
purposefully sat opposite Wind from the Sea.

Fiscal year 2009 saw the acquisition of two major
European pamntings: Hendrick ter Brugghen's Bagpipe
Player, 1624, and Henri-Joseph Harpignies® Landscape
in Auvergne, 1870,

Ter Brugghen was the most important of the
Utrecht Caravaggisti, a group of Dutch artists who
traveled to Rome in the early seventeenth century
where they were inspired by the art of Caravaggio.
The acquisition, the first work by one of the Utrecht
Caravaggistl to enter the Gallery’s collection, was made

ANDREW WYETH Wind from the Sea. Gift of Charles H. Morgan
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possible by the Paul Mellon Fund and the Greg and

Candy Fazakerley Fund.

Ter Brugghen had an ability to capture the rhythms
of music in the way he composed his paintings. In this
remarkable painting, the musician, seen in profile,
squeezes the leather bag between his forearms as he
blows through the mstrument’s pipe and fingers a tune
on the chanter. While muted in tonality, this master-
piece is both bold and forceful in its scale and painting
techniques. The artist’s sure, broad brushstrokes flow
across the canvas, reflecting in their energy the bagpipe
player’s passion for his music.

The numerous adjustments the artist made in the
folds of the shirt and robe, as well as in the shape of the
bagpipes, indicate the freedom with which he approached
his subject. The bagpiper’s loosely draped robes also
reflect a mode of dress that alluded to an Arcadian ideal
of country existence popular among the urban elite in
Utrecht and The Hague. Ter Brugghen's pamnting, thus,
conveys romantic ideals of love and beauty derived
from Renaissance literary and pictorial traditions.
Through the boldness of his brush and the rhythms of
his forms, we feel the enduring power of music.

Landscape in Auvergne is a characteristic work by the
French landscape painter Henri-Joseph Harpignies,
who was profoundly influenced by the realism of the
Barbizon school, Gustave Courbet, and later the
impressionists. Although the specific site depicted in
this work has not been identified, it 1s almost certainly
somewhere in the environs of the village of Hérisson

in the Auvergne region where Harpignies was

stationed while serving in the Garde Natuonale during

the Franco-Prussian War. Landscape in Auvergne, which

was produced at the height of Harpignies™ powers, is
an admirable complement to the Gallery’s holdings of
realist and Barbizon pamntings. The painting was given
to the Gallery by Ruth Carter Stevenson, trustee
emerita of the Gallery, in memory of Philip Conisbec.

Acquisitions in modern and contemporary art included
important works spanning the twentieth century. In
Animarted Landscape, 1921, Fernand Léger placed two
men and a placid bull in a dense architectonic setting
fusing elements of Cubism and Neo-Plasticism. This
enigmatic, suburban pastoral, a gift of Carroll Janis and
Donna Seldin Janis, joins Légers Tivo Women, 1922,
‘llrL‘.'id}' in the collection.

In The Whitten Sea, 1952, John Marin let loose his cal-
ligraphic skill on a daring near-abstraction that responds
to the contemporaneous work of Jackson Pollock while
distilling decades of his own work. This painting, a gift
of Deborah and Ed Shein, is a majestic addition to the
Gallery's extensive holdings of Marin’s work.

A second acquisition of mid-century American
painting came as the annual gift of the Collecrors
Committee. Norman Lewis, one of the most important
African American painters of the century, infused the
language of abstract expressionism with deeply felt
personal and political content. In Untitled (Alabaina), 1967,
compacted, flame-like strokes of white and black move
and twist across the canvas, suggesting the ambulatory
confrontations that punctuated the Civil Rights struggle.
This work, one of the artist’s most ambitious, is his first
to enter the collection.

The Richard S. Zeisler Fund made possible the
purchase of Byron Kim'’s Synecdoche, 1991—present, an
ongoing work of more than 400 pamtings of o1l and wax,

each ten by eight inches, covered with a single color.

HENDRICK TER BRUGGHEN Bagpipe Player, Paul Mellon Fund and Greg and Candy Fazakerley Fund

FERNAND LEGER Animated Landscape, Gift of Carroll Janis and Donna Seldin Janis
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To make each panel of this unusual work of group
portraiture, Kim, a Korean-American artist, matched
the color of a different sitter’s skin. Synecdoche fuses
Kim’s interest in the close observation of natural color
with both the long tradition of the monochrome in
abstract art and the issues of race, identity, and repre-

sentation that have been defining concerns of younger
artists. The painting can be installed in part or whole,
as a grid of any shape and size.

SCULPTURE Dramatic, small-scale works in low
relief, from the seventeenth through nineteenth cen-
turies, enriched the collection of European sculprure.
A trio of images conceived for private devotion:
miniature, polychrome busts of the suffering Christ at
successive stages of the Passion, modeled in wax and
crowned with actual thorns were donated by Brooke
and Anne Lee and the Edge Lee Family. These reliefs
were set within silver frames and preserved in a hand-
made fiberboard or papier maché box which may,
like its contents, date from the seventeenth century.
While the wax reliefs are tentatively ascribed to a South
German or French sculptor, a possible Italian origin is
being investigated.

Gifts from Andrew Brown included a silver plaquette
showing Emperor Rudolph II astride a rearing horse,
¢. 1600~1610, and a portrait medal by the Florentine
sculptor Antonio Selvi, depicting the Venetian Carmelite
preacher Padre Marco di San Francesco, dated 1748.
Selvis fine cast retains a double coloration that rarely
survives, the rich dark lacquer on the central designs
contrasting with the golden brass color of the unpati-
nated rim.

Nineteenth-century works included an 1854 portrait
medal of Charles de Brouckeére, Mayor of Brussels, by
the Belgian sculptor Joseph-Pierre Braemt, featured in

the Darker Side of Light exhibition in 2009. The bold
yet delicately modeled work was acquired through a
donation from Mark and Lynne Hammerschlag in
honor of Nicholas Penny as was a small bronze relief
of 1894 by Henri-Auguste-Jules Patey, a tender por-
trait of the artist’s aged parents in facing profiles.

A gift from the Collection of Raymond and Patsy
Nasher, Henri Gaudier-Brzeska’s Hieratic Head of Ezra
Pound, 1914, 1s a monument of early modernism and
the first work by the artist to enter the collection. In
this abstracted marble bust, Gaudier-Brzeska drew on
Cubism and the art of Easter Island to create an
imposing tribute.

Forty-five feet tall, Graft (2008-2009), by American
sculptor Roxy Paine, stands out among the trees in
the Sculpture Garden. Commissioned by the Gallery
and made possible by Victoria and Roger Sant, this
Denroid, as the artst calls his series of tree-like
sculptures, presents two fictive but distinet species of
trees—one gnarled, twisting, and irregular, the other
smooth, elegant, and rhythmic—joined to the same
trunk. Graft 1s the first work by Paine to enter the
collection and the first contemporary sculpture installed
in the Sculpture Garden since its opening in 1999.

DRAWINGS The collecton of old master and
modern drawings grew by more than 300 works this
year, thanks largely to the generous donation of the
Joseph McCrindle Foundation. Representing the wide-
ranging interests and personal taste of collector Joseph
E McCrindle, the gift of more than 250 drawings
spans a period of almost 500 years, and features a
broad representation of many of the major European
and American schools. The donation includes multple
works by Hercules Brabazon Brabazon, Théophile
Alexandre Steinlen, Robert Polhill Bevan, and Pavel
Tchelitchew: compositional studies by Luca Cambiaso,

JOHN MARIN The Whritten Sea, Gift of Deborah and Ed Shein
WILLIAM STANLEY HASELTINE Santa Maria a Cetrella, Anacapri, Joseph FE McCrindle Collection

12
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Hans von Aachen, Maximilien Luce, and Rockwell
Kent; figure studies and portraits by Jacob Matham,
Carle van Loo, William Etty, and Ernst Ludwig Kirchner:
landscapes by lsaac de Moucheron, Adriaen Frans
Boudewyns, and Théodore Rousseau. British drawings
range from eighteenth-century compositions by John
Thornhill and Thomas Rowlandson to twentieth-
century works by Augustus John, Frank Brangwyn,
and Wyndham Lewis. Fifteen watercolors by the
Victorian scenographer Robert Caney and a mixed-
media work by the twentieth-century British painter
John Piper reflect McCrindle's interest in theater design.
The stand-out work by an American is the watercolor
of a view in southern Italy, made by William Stanley
Haseltine in the early 1890s.

Other old master drawings that came to the Gallery
through gift and purchase include two thirteenth-century
miniatures by the Master of Imola, given by Ladislaus
and Beatrix von Hoffmann; four mimatures and a
fifteenth-century Flemish book of hours given by Stanley
and Wilhelmina Jashemski, in honor of her parents;
an exceptionally fine sheet by a Florentine artist around
1450—possibly Domenico Veneziano or Luca della
Robbia—featuring a seated young man drawn in white
gouache and pen and ink on blue paper, purchased with the
William B. O’Neal Fund and Ailsa Mellon Bruce Fund.

Significant gifts of old master drawings included a
work by the early sixteenth-century Tuscan painter
Vincenzo Tamagni and The Archangel Michael by the
seventeenth-century Genoese artist Giulio Benso, both

ROXY PAINE Graft, Gift of Victoria and Roger Sant
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from David E. Rust. An unusually rich composition by Among the year’s acquisitions of twentieth-century
Pirro Ligorio showing the slaughter of the children of  drawings were six works by Winsor McCay—four in
Niobe by Apollo and Diana; a fine Holy Family by  pen and ink, two of which are full-scale designs from the
Giuseppe Maria Crespi; a neoclassical rendering of  Dream of the Rarebit Fiend series, donated by Margaret
the god Saturn grappling with a serpent, attributed to . Moniz and Ann Winsor Moniz, and two drawings for
Tommaso Minardi; and a late eighteenth-century French  Little Nemo in Slumberland acquired with funds from the
drawing for a book illustration by Jean Frangois Pierre  bequest of Richard S. Zeisler. Fourteen pen-and-ink
Peyron were donated by Jeffrey E. Horvitz. drawings by the futurist artist and poet Francesco
A design for stained glass by Swiss sixteenth-century  Cangiullo, Eden-Programma, 1915, were also purchased
artist Abraham Bickhart, an early watercolor view of a  through the Zeisler Fund and Ailsa Mellon Bruce Fund.
waterfall by J.M.W. Turner, and Luigi Loir’s large
watercolor of the banks of the River Seine at dusk PRINTS & ILLUSTRATED BOOKS
from the late nineteenth century were gifts of Dian  This year’s rich and varied acquisitions include an
Woodner. A rare addition to the Gallery’ collection of  example of the earliest European engraving, Saint_John
German seventeenth-century drawings, Daniel Seiters  the Baptist in the Wilderness, 1466, a lavishly ornamental
Martyrdom of Saint Lawrence, came from Diane A. design probably for a Eucharistic paten by the Master
Nixon. The Gallery’s holdings of British pastels were  E.S., purchased through the Pepita Milmore Memorial
enhanced by the acquisition of a pair of portraits  Fund. Colonel and Mrs, William Konze supported the
by William Hoare in their original frames: Colonel  purchase of a multi-block woodcut, Christ on the Cross
John Lee, purchased through the New Century Fund  with the Virgin and Saint_John, 1491, the earliest figurative
and the Edward E. MacCrone Fund, and Sarah Lee,a  image in any American collection printed in full colors,
generous gift of Lowell Libson. Two drawings by This, along with another

Jacques-Lows David copying figures of children in fifteenth-century

seventeenth-century paintings by Domenichino woodcut
and Guido Reni were given by Roy and
Cecily Langdale Davis.
Nineteenth-century works to enter
the collection included the luminous
Calangue: Morning, 1936, by French
artist Lucien Lévy-Dhurmer,
made possible by the Chester
Dale Fund: a striking 1885
portrait of a woman in a
tenebrist style by the young
Lévy-Dhurmer, funded by
Joyce Z. Greenberg; and a
red, black, and white chalk
portrait by Paul-César
Helleu of his wife and
infant daughter, purchased
with funds provided by
Evelyn Stefansson Nef.
Jill Newhouse donated an
exquisite 1842 drawing by
the German artist Julius Hiibner
of his infant son. A sheet of beach
studies by Eugéne Isabey was
given by Joan and David Maxwell.
A landscape watercolor by Gabriel
Hippolyte Lebas was donated by Helen
Porter and James T. Dyke. And a major 1878
work by Edwin Austin Abbey was funded
by Ruth Cole Kainen, in memory of Heidi Berry.

MASTER E.S. Saint_John the Baptist in the Wilderness with the Lamb of God,
Surrounded by the Symbols of the Evangelists and the Four Fathers of the Church, Pepita Milmore Memorial Fund
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Crudfixion and a portrait of the reformer
Philip Melanchthon by Lucas Cranach
the Younger, both acquired through the
Ailsa Mellon Bruce Fund, contribute
substantially to our representation of
early German printmaking.

Among Renaissance prints the
Gallery purchased, with the Ailsa
Mellon Bruce Fund, a sterling
impression of The Spinario, 1581, by
Diana Scultori. Frang¢ois Boucher’s
etching La Blanchisseuse, 1756, was
funded by Ivan and Winifred Phillips,
and an etching and drypoint, The
Catiline Conspiracy, 1792, by Jean-
Francois Janinet was also purchased
through the Ailsa Mellon Bruce Fund.
An experimental state of Edouard
Manet’s Absinthe Drinker, 1862, taken by Manet before
the plate was reprinted posthumously, is directly related
to the artist’s landmark painting The Old Musician in the
Gallery’s collection. The Gallery received a number of
prints as gifts from David E. Rust. The Epstein Family
Collection donated a group of etchings and lithographs
by Edvard Munch.

This year provided unusual opportunities for rare
illustrated books from various private collections,
including sixteenth- and seventeenth-century
Netherlandish books illustrated by Peter van der
Borcht, Cornelis van Dalen, and Romeyn de Hooghe.
A full range of eighteenth-century German illustrated
books was acquired, culminating in a complete set of
Christoph Nathe's etchings, and an Augsburg album
of 1,300 hand-colored engravings donated by Peter
and Evelyn Kraus. Among several French illustrated
books was a twelve-volume Bible (1789—1804) with
300 etched and engraved illustrations,

A rare 1771 suite of double-folio prints of the
theater in Bologna, designed by Antonio Galli Bibiena,
was funded by Vincent and Linda Buonanno. Other
Italian books included a complete set of Bartolomeo
Pinelli's Il Meo Patacca, 1823, and a group of Futurist
books by Francesco Cangiullo, Carlo Carra, and
Filippo Marinett.

The most important acquisition of American prints
was the collection of Reba and Dave Williams. With
more than 5,250 American prints, from roughly 1875
to 1975, representing 2,070 artists, the Williams
Collection is unrivalled in its quality and breadth.
From the etching revival to pop art, it tells an encom-
passing story. factoring in major and minor figures alike,
with prints by Mabel Dwight, Harry Gottlieb, and
Jolin Gross-Bettelheim. The collection includes prints

by Ashcan School artists John Sloan and Peggy
Bacon, American modernists and precisionists Stuart
Davis and Ralston Crawford, American scene print-
makers Martin Lewis and Reginald Marsh, and
regionalists Thomas Hart Benton and Grant Wood.

Particularly strong in depression-era and Works Progress
Administration prints, the Williams Collection also
encompasses iconic prints from the nineteenth century
and from the 1960s and 1970s, including Thomas
Moran’s Mountain of the Holy Cross, 1888: Ed Ruscha’s
Standard Station, 1966; Andy Warhol's pink Marilyn,
1967; and Jasper Johns' Targer. 1974.

The collection of prints by John Taylor Arms was
also enhanced by a generous gift from David E Wright
of twenty-seven etchings dating trom 1916 to 1953.
Through the William Stamps Farish Fund, the Gallery
acquired seven untitled engravings and drypoints,
1944/1945 (printed 1967), by Jackson Pollock.

PHOTOGRAPHS Among the most important
additions to the collection of photographs this year
was a series of five chromogenic prints, Presidency
-1, 2008, by the German photographer Thomas
Demand, donated by Agnes Gund and Jo Carole and
Ronald S. Lauder. Using photographs from newspa-
pers and magazines, Demand makes life-sized, three
dimensional models of scenes—often with charged
political and cultural relevance—which he then
photographs. In this circuitous way, his photographs
undercut the idea of photography as a faithful record
while they explore the nature of perception and
the ways in which mass-media images inform our
understanding.

Seventy-eight photographs by the American Beat
poet Allen Ginsberg dating from 1947 to 1964, were

ED RUSCHA Standard Station, Reba and Dave Williams Collecuon, Art Purchase Fund
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1980s, (

rediscovered the frequently joyous portraits of

a gift of Gary S. Davis. In the early sinsberg
himself, his friends, and lovers and reprinted them,
adding extensive, often poetic inscriptions to each one.
Rich studies of the Beat and counter-culture move-
ment, Ginsberg’s photographs also provide insights
into the rise of narrative photography and the incor-
poration of images and text in the 1980s and 1990s.
Other notable gifts include thirty-seven photographs
plus a portfolio of twelve works by the Polish-born
American photographer David Seymour, also known
as Chim. One of the pioneers of twentieth-century
photojournalism, Chim first gained national acclaim
for his fronthne photographs of the Spanish Civil War.
[his gift from his nephew Ben Shneiderman includes

work from throughout Chim’s career, giving the

Gallery its first in-depth collection of the work of

a photojournalist.

ALLEN GINSBERG Jack Kerouac, railroad breakman’s rule-book in pocket. ..

oSt
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the Scottish photographer James
Craig Annan, Venice and Lombardy,
1894; a stunning

Rodin, 1907, by the American pho-

g portrait of Auguste

tographer Edward Steichen: and a
rare portrait by Alfred Sueglitz of
Sherwood

were purchased

American author

1923,

the
Anderson,
with the Pepita Milmore Memorial
Fund. The large 1857 photogravure
of Charles Negre's Cathédrale de
Chartres—Portique du Midi Xlle
Siécle, c. 1854, was made possible by
the William and Sarah Walton Fund.
I'he Walton Fund along with the
Diana and Mallory Walker Fund also
made possible the acquisition of
Stephen Shore’s | Summer’s Agency,
Duluth, 7/11/73, The
Vital Projects Fund enabled the

q"“

Minn.

acquisition of a lantern slide of
Kelmscott Manor, 1895, by the British
photographer Frederick Evans and
Self Portrait, ¢. 1926, by the German
photographer Edmund Kesting. In
addition, the Vital Projects Fund
along with W. Bruce and Delaney
H. Lundberg made possible the
acquisition of Our Pastor’s Circle,
1855,

daguerreotypes. Augmenting the

2 a collage of twenty-four
holdings of work by women pho-

tographers, four works by the

American modernist photographer
Marjorie Content were purchased with the R.K.
Mellon Foundation Fund and one by the Gallery
Girls Fund, along with a gift by Jill Quasha. while the
Veverka Family Foundation allowed us to acquire five
works by the Slovak photographer Ladislav Foltyn.
Photographer Richard Misrach donated two of his
large chromogenic prints, Battleground Point # 9, 1999,
and Untitled, 2004, a photograph from his series On
the Beach. Robert E. Jackson donated eighty-seven

anonymous twentieth-century American snapshots.

RARE BOOKS & IMAGES The
added 118 utles to its rare book collection in 2009.

Library

Eighty-eight titles, dating from the early sixteenth

century to the mid-twentieth century and aug-
menting the resources in Renaissance and Northern
European art, were acquired with the David K.E.

Bruce Fund.

. Gift of Gary S. Davis
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Three acquisitions were made possible by the J. Paul  1705), a first edition commemorating the coronation
Getty Fund in honor of Franklin D. Murphy. Dissegne  of Joseph | with twelve engraved plates.
della rinovazione di turti Ii pubblici teatri di Roma (S.n., An important modern publication acquired this year,
1781), a presentation copy with ten original architec-  Paris: 80 photographies (Paris, 1931) is a pioneering work of
tural drawings by Cosimo Morelli, commemorates  photomontage featuring 80 collotype plates by Moi Ver.
the marriage of a nephew of Pope Pius VI, whose Among the most significant album purchases were a
papal coat of arms appears on the cover. A first edition  folio of unpublished photographs by Clarence Kennedy
of La pompa fenerale fatta dall ill.me & rame s.r cardinale  and Fritz Henle of Verrocchio’s Quattrocento panels of
Montalto nella traportatione dell’ossa di Papa Sisto il the Silver Altar of San Giovanni (1932);a Britsh “grand
Quinte by Baldo Catani (Rome, 1591) marks the tour”album with early photographs by John Brampton
internment of Pope SixtusV in the Capella del Presepe  Philpot and others of Italian art and architecture
in Santa Maria Maggiore. Le Surréalisme en 1947  (c. 1860); an album of sculpture in St.Vitus Cathedral
(Paris, 1947), a special edition published for the sixth  in Prague by Jaromir Funke (1943); and a facsimile of
Exposition internationale du surréalisme, features  the Breviario Grimam by Antonio Perim (1862).

twenty-four original prints by artists such as Max Notable individual photographs included an exten-
Ernst, Joan Mir6, and Alexander Calder. sive collection of the models, plans, and built works

The Grega and Leo A. Daly Fund for Architectural  documenting the Exposition Internationale of 1937 in
Books supported the purchase of fifteen tides from the  Paris; a portrait of Franz Kline by John Cohen (1960);
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries including a collec-  two portraits of George Grosz by Ewald Hoinkis
tion of architectural studies executed in 1860 and 1861  (1928); a double portrait of Frank Lloyd Wright and
by M. Brault, and Villas, maisons de ville et de campagne,an  Eero Saarinen by Harvey Croze (1945):a photographic
architectural pattern book distinguished by fifty-five  study for a group of figures by Alphonse Mucha for his
colored lithographs by Léon Isabey (Paris, 1864). murals The Slav Epic (1911); Caryatids of the Erechtheion

Funds provided by Mr. and Mrs. John C. Fontaine  and The Parthenon by Dimetrius Constantine (c.1860);
and the Samuel H. Kress Foundation supported the a collection of thirty late nineteenth-century photo-
purchase of Erb-Huldigung, so dem aller-durchleiichtigist-  graphs of Russian architecture featuring hand-colored
grossmidchtigist und wniibenvindlichsten Romischen Kayser,  albumen prints; and a salt print of the Crystal Place
Josepho dem Ersten...by Ludwig von Giilich (Vienna, exhibition by Claude-Marie Ferrier (1851).
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BALDO CATANI La pompa funerale fatta dall ill.mo & rmo s.r cardinale Montalto nella traportatione
dell’ossa di Papa Sisto il Quinto, J. Paul Getty Fund in honor of Franklin D. Murphy
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uring fiscal year 2009 the Gallery

continued its acclaimed special

exhibitions program by presenting

nineteen exhibitions. Three exhi-

bitions, Medieval to Modern: Recent

Acquisitions of Drawings, Prints, and

Hlustrated Books, Edouard Manet’s “Ragpicker” from the
Nortonn Simon Foundation, and George de Forest Brush:
The Indian Paintings, continued from the previous year.
The year opened with Oceans, Rivers, and Skies:
Ansel Adams, Robert Adams, and Alfred Stieglitz, focus-
ing on three legendary American photographers and
their ability to expand pictorial and conceptual
boundaries. The exhibition featured twenty-one
works in chronological order: ten by Alfred Steglitz,
five by Ansel Adams, and six by Robert Adams.
Stieglitz’s series Music: A Sequence of Ten Cloud
Photographs was last seen in its entirety in 1923.

JANM LIEVENS: A DUTCH

Although composed of blocks of bold, abstract forms,
Ansel Adams’ sequence—the only one he ever
made—is the most narrative of the three. Robert
Adams’ series of six very similar images has no obvious
musical, hiteral, or narrative progression, but as a whole
evokes a state of calm meditation.

Pompeii and the Roman Villa: Art and Culture around
the Bay of Naples was the first Gallery exhibition
devoted to ancient Roman art. During the first
century BC the region around the Bay of Naples
became an artistic center of exceptional sophistication.
Artists flocked to the area, creating works of art for
patrons in Pompeii and the neighboring towns of
Herculaneum, Stabiae, and Oplontis—places that would
be buried after the eruption of Vesuvius in 79 AD.
This artistic flowering was fostered by Roman aristocrats
building sumptuous retreats overlooking the bay as
well as wealthy citizens of Pompeii and Herculaneum

MASTER REDISCOVERED




NATIONAL

GALLERY OF ART

The exhibition revealed shared arustic tastes and

cultural ideals, particularly a reverence for the arts of

who emulated the lifestyles of the powerful elite.
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Pompeii and the Roman Villa presented some 150 works
of sculpture, painting, mosaic, and luxury arts. The
exhibition included recent discoveries on view in the
U.S. for the first ame and celebrated finds from earlier

excavations. A fully illustrated catalogue accompanied

the exhibition. An award-winning documentary film,

narrated by Sir Derek Jacobi, was produced for the
exhibition. Visitors were also offered an illustrated
brochure and an audio tour, with commentary by noted
scholars. The exhibition Web site included an interac-

tive feature on ancient Roman gardens, a shdeshow of

a nineteenth-century album of Pompen, and podcast
interviews with scholars.
Jan Lievens: A Dutch Master Rediscovered brought to

light the life and career of one of the greatest yet most

enigmatic Dutch painters of the seventeenth century.

A daring and innovative painter, draughtsman, and
printmaker, Lievens created memorable character stud-
ies, genre scenes, landscapes, formal portraits, and
religious and allegorical images. The exhibition and
catalogue posited that his posthumous reputation
waned after many of his works were mistakenly attrib-

uted to other masters—especially Rembrandt van

Rijn—and because he worked in a remarkable range
of styles, reflecting multiple influences from the various

cities in which he lived. This exhibition traced the

evolution of his painting style and the radical decisions
he made over the course of his career. It was not until
the mid-twentieth century that Lievens began to be
reassessed and a number of wrongly attributed works
were recognized as his. A fully illustrated catalogue
accompanied the exhibition, and an illustrated brochure
and a Web site feature on fifteen works were produced
for the exhibiton.

A series of exhibitions focusing on developments in
twentieth-century art was inaugurated in the Tower
Gallery in the East Building with In the Tower: Philip
Guston. For more than five decades, Guston explored
styles and subjects, from the mural art of the Depression
through mid-century abstract expressionism, to a raw
new imagery beginning in 1968. His return to figura-
tion in that year, influenced by the comics and politics
would prove highly influential on later developments
in contemporary art. This exhibition of seven paintings
and a selection of prints and drawings, mostly drawn
from the Gallery’s collection, charted Guston’s career
from 1949 to 1980. A documentary film featuring
clips of Guston at work and interviews with the artist
traced stylistic shifts throughout his career, revealing

his motives, methods, sources, and legacy.

The 50th anniversary of a groundbreaking publi-
cation was celebrated with the exhibition Looking In:
Robert Frank’s “The Americans.” In 1955 and 1956, the
Swiss-born American photographer Robert Frank

traveled across the United States to photograph, as

he wrote, “the kind of civilizaton born here and

FRANKS "THE AMERICANS
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spreading elsewhere.”
The
twentieth-century photography

The result of his journey was

in 1ts look at a
culture on the brink of massive social upheaval. The
exhibition examined Frank’s process in creating the
photographs and the book, presenting 150 photographs,
seventeen books, fifteen manuscripts, and twenty-
eight contact sheets. In honor of the exhibition, Frank
created a film and assembled three large collages. The
exhibition was accompanied by an award-winning
publication, produced in rwo different editions.
Online, an interactive map detailed Frank’s journey,
and comparisons between contact sheets and final
photographs elucidated his method.

Pride of Place:
offered a survey of the Dutch cityscape, a new genre

Dutch Cityscapes of the Golden Age
of painting in the seventeenth century. From wide-
angle panoramas depicting the urban skyline with
its fortifications, windmills, and church steeples, to
renderings of daily life along the canals, down city
streets, and 1n town squares, these works expressed the
enormous civic pride of the era. Some forty Dutch
Gerrit Berckheyde, Aclbert

master artists, including

Cuyp, Carel Fabritius, Jan van Goyen, Jan van der
Hevden, Pieter de Hooch, Jacob van Ruisdael, Pieter
Saenredam, and Jan Steen, were represented in the
exhibition of forty-eight paintings and twenty-three
maps, atlases. and illustrated books. The accompanying
exhibiion Web site highhighted scenes still recogniz-
able in the Netherlands by paring six paintings with
contemporary photographs taken from the same
viewpoint. An illustrated booklet also was produced.
On the 200th

Lincoln’s birthday, Designing the Lincoln Memorial: Daniel

anniversary of President Abraham
Chester French and Henry Bacon was presented by the Gallery

PRIDE OF PLACH

Americans, a book that changed the course of

DUTCH CITYS(

The installation featured the six-foot-high plaster
final model of the most renowned Lincoln statue by
American sculptor Daniel Chester French, designed
National Mall, and

the original wood model of the Lincoln Memorial by

for the Lincoln Memorial on the

Henry Bacon.
Rare medieval manuscript illuminations, last exhibited
1975, were presented in a stunning installation, Heaven
on Earth: Manuscript Hhaninations from the National Gallery

of Art. Fifty-two single leaves and four bound volumes
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Belbello da Pavia The Annunciation to the Virgin
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dating from the twelfth to the sixteenth century and
made in France, Germany. Austria, Bohemia, the
Netherlands, Spain, and ltaly were featured.

Jaromir Funke and the Amateur Avant-Garde, the first
major exhibition of this photographer’s work out-
side of Europe in nearly twenty-five years, included
some seventy works that showed Funke’s influential
role in the Czech and Slovak amateur photography
movement in the 1920s and 1930s. The exhibition
traced the careers of Funke and his compatriots and
revealed how their photographs bridged the aesthetics
of the amateur mainstream and the experimental
styles of the avant-garde. From the early 1920s and
the 1930s—when avant-garde photography became

more widespread in Czech culture

World War 11, these visionaries followed the path of

the committed amateur. They exhibited or published
their own prints and shared knowledge of photogra-
phy but did not make a commercial or artistic living
from it. Works by well-known Czech photographers

Josef Sudek and Eugen Wiskovsky were included in

the exhibition. A brochure, also downloadable online,

accompanied the exhibition.

Luis Meléndez: Master of the Spanish Still Life explored
the art and working methods of the greatest still-life
painter of eighteenth-century Spain. Meléndez had
an extraordinary talent for rendering everyday objects
with convincing detail, marvelous effects of color and

light, and subtle variations in texture. Beginning with

[uis Meléndez
b St
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LUIS MELENDEZ: MASTER OF

to the time of

the Gallery's Still Life with Figs and Bread, c. 1770,
the exhibition showcased thirty-one paintings and
nine examples of eighteenth-century kitchenware
similar to those Meléndez used as studio props. A
fully illustrated catalogue, including recent technical
analysis that revealed much about his working methods,
accompanied the exhibition.

Stanley William Hayter: From Surrealism to Abstraction
traced the artistic development of the English chemist
turned printmaker widely celebrated for his influence
on creative printmaking in Europe and North America.
Forty-four of Hayter’s finest prints were shown along
with ten prints by some of the best-known artists to
work at his print shop, Atelier 17, including Louise
Bourgeois, Max Ernst, Joan Mird, and Jackson Pollock.

The Beffi Triptych: Preserving Abruzzo'’s Cultural
Heritage provided an opportunity to display one of the
most important works from the National Museum of
Abruzzo in L'Aquila, Italy—The Madonna and Child
with Scenes from the Life of Christ and the Virgin (The
Beffi Triptych). The first work of art transported out of
the region in the aftermath of the April 2009 earth-
quake, the early fifteenth-century altarpiece was lent
by the Italian government to show its gratitude to the
United States and as testimony to their commitment
to restore the cultural heritage of the region. The
Gallery produced an illustrated leaflet explaining the
iconography of the altarpiece and showing the damage
suffered by the museum.

THE SPANISH STILL LIFI
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Dutch painter Judith Leyster’s 400th birthday was

marked by the exhibition Judith Leyster, 1609—1660,

One of the few professional women artists of the

Dutch Golden Age, Leyster painted a range of

subjects, including genre scenes, portraits, and stll hifes.

Small in scale, Leyster’s paintings vibrate with an inner

life through her vigorous brush work, bold colors, and

THE BEFFI TRIPTYCH

PRESERVING ABRUZZO'S CL

dramatic lighting. The exhibition featured ten of her
most engaging paintings, including the Gallery’s
Self-Portrait, as well as works by seventeenth-century
contemporaries, including her presumed teacher
Frans Hals and her husband Jan Miense Molenaer.
Musical instruments of the period similar to those

depicted in the paintings were installed in adjacent

LTURAL HERITAGI
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cases. An exhibition booklet was produced for the
exhibition as was an online shdeshow of seven of
Leysters paintings set to period music.

The Art of Power: Royal Armor and Portraits from
Imperial Spain featured armor from the Spamish Royal
Armory in Madrid paired for the first nme with
portraits by masters such as Peter Paul Rubens, Alonso
Sianchez Coello, Anthony van Dyck, and Diego
Velazquez. This exhibition explored how armor was
used to cultivate the image of royal power in late
fifteenth- to eighteenth-century Spain through its
presentation of seventy-five armors and paintings and
three magnificent tapestries. Works on paper depicting
armor worn in parades, pageants, jousting tourna-
ments, and battles were also included. Several full suits
of armor as well as helmets, shields, and equestrian
armor were juxtaposed with portraits of the sixteenth-
and seventeenth-century emperors in armor. An
illustrated timeline and maps provided an overview of
the political and cultural events during the period.
Interactive Web site programs included an explanation

of the components of a suit of armor. A video podcast,

an audio tour, and a fully illustrated catalogue also
accompanied the exhibition.

A bronze statuette from the Museum of Fine Arts,
Budapest, was the centerpiece of The Budapest Horse:
A Leonardo da Vind Puzzle and the focus of recent
technical examinations by Gallery conservators. For
the small exhibition, The Rearing Horse and Mounted
Warrior was joined by two additional bronze horses
and two warriors associated with Leonardo da Vina
from international collections, along with two
Renaissance bronze horses by known masters for
comparison. The similarities of the Budapest horse to
Leonardo’s drawings led to the first attribution to
him in 1916. New technical evidence suggests that
the cast could date from as early as the sixteenth
century, although possibly some years after his death
in 1519,

An Antiquity of Imagination: Tullio Lombardo and
Venetian High Renaissance Sculpture was the first exhi-
bition ever devoted to Venetian Renaissance sculptor
Tullio Lombardo. Lombardo’s romantic approach to

yortraiture was revealed in four of his greatest marble
| £

THE ART OF TOWER: ROYAL ARMOR AND PORTRAITS FROM IMPERIAL SPAIN
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carvings, which were joined by eight related works
from his circle. Like his more famous contemporaries
Giovanni Bellini, Giorgione, and Titian, whom he
may have both emulated and influenced, Tullio crafted
close-up treatments of secular subjects designed for
an audience that could respond to their elusive,
haunting character in an intimate setting. A type of
sculpture never seen before, these portrait-like busts
in exceptionally high relief represented
figural types descended from ancient
Greek and Roman art, given imme-
diacy by their Renaissance hairstyles
and costume details. They seemed
to belong simultaneously to two
worlds: classical antiquity, as imag-
ined in the fifteenth century, and
contemporary Renaissance Venice. A
fully illustrated catalogue accompa-
nied this exhibidon.

Interpretive programs and materials
accompanying the Gallery's special
exhibitions, such as documentary filims,
brochures, explanatory texts, and Web
site features, are made available to all
venues for the exhibinon, Documentary
films are also distributed nationally
on a free-loan basis to libraries, schools,
and community centers, and are aired
on public television stations across
the country.

The Gallery administered the loans
of 1,129 works of art to 272 sites
during fiscal year 2009. Among nota-
ble loans were Johannes Vermeer’s
Woman Holding a Balance, lent to the
Rijksmuseum in Amsterdam, and A
Lady Writing, shown at the Norton
Simon Museum, Pasadena. The Bedroom
by Pieter de Hooch was on view
with the collection of the Stedelijk
Museum Het Prinsenhof in Delft.
Three paintings and five graphic
works were loaned to the Musée du
Louvre, Paris, for an Andrea Mantegna
exhibition. Also traveling to the Louvre
were two major paintings by Titian:
Venus with a Mirror and Ranuccio
Farnese, for the exhibition Titian,
Tintoretto, and Veronese: Rivals in
Renaissance Venice. Two significant
J-M.W. Turner paintings, Appreach to
Venice and The Dogana and Santa
Maria della Salute, Venice, were seen in

Tiurner and Italy, an exhibition that opened in Ferrara
and traveled to the National Gallery of Scotland,
Edinburgh, and the Museum of Fine Arts in Budapest.
Eight Renaissance prints, including Albrecht Diirer’s
Trinmphal Arch of Maximilian, were shown in Grand

Scale: Monumental Prints in the Age of Diirer and Titian
at the Yale University Art Gallery, New Haven, and
the Philadelphia Museum of Art.

AN ANTIQUITY OF IMAGINATION: TULLIO LOMBARDO AND VENETIAN HIGH RENAISSANCE SCULPTURE
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n 2009, educational programs and publica-
tions served more than a million visitors at
the Gallery and millions more through its Web
site, television offerings, and other media.
Eighty-six auditorium presentations,
attended by more 27,000 visitors, welcomed
distinguished guests, including photographer Robert
Frank, artist Rachel Whiteread, collectors Dorothy
and Herbert Vogel, critic Peter Schjeldahl, and author
Calvin Tompkins. For the second year, the Collecting of
African American Art series brought collectors and
specialists to the Gallery to share their experiences and
knowledge. Staff lecturers presented the annual summer
auditorium series on artistic partnerships, Close Encounters
of an Artistic Kind.

Internship programs for future curators, conservators,
educators, and administrators continued this year with
graduate students from fifteen states and six foreign
countries.

Gallery talks for adults included Food for Thought, a
new lunchume lecture-discussion, and Picture This, tours
for visitors with visual impairments. A tour in Polish of the
West Building collection brought the number of foreign
language tour offerings to nine. During the fiscal year,
more than 45,000 adults attended 4,097 tours.

The Gallery contnued Art Around the Corner, a multiple-
visit program offered in association with District of
Columbia public schools, adding visits to an artist’s
studio. As part of the High School Summer Institute,
teenagers studied the work of five figuratve sculptors
then created their own charcoals for exhibition at
Children’s National Medical Center. The High School
Seminar brought students to the Gallery every Saturday
morning for six months to learn about the collection,
artistic inspiration, and museum careers. More than
40,000 students took part in 2,240 programs.

One hundred twenty-three family programs were
offered to 13,470 attendees, including Artful Conversations,

a multiple-visit summer program for families with
children ages eight to eleven. For a family weekend
inspired by Pride of Place: Dutch Cityscapes of the Golden
Age, participants used activity booklets, heard perfor-
mances of seventeenth-century Dutch music, and
viewed a miniature canal house. Resource tables with
books, artist’s materials and tools, and full-scale repro-
ductions were located near the entrances of Pompeii
and the Roman Villa: Art and Culture around the Bay of
Naples and The Art of Power: Royal Armor and Portraits
from Imperial Spain.

The summer Teacher Institute on eighteenth- and
nineteenth-century American art brought fifty educa-
tors from nineteen states and the U.S.Virgin Islands to
the Gallery. Teacher workshops held throughout the
academic year attracted a number of first time partici-
pants. Some 600 educators participated in programs
during the fiscal year.

A variety of written resources are produced for
Gallery visitors each year. In 2009, almost one million
publications were distributed including a family
guide to the French and Dutch galleries; two discovery
guides for the Pompeii exhibition; and updated editions
of the Gallery’s map and guide in Korean, Russian,
German, and Italian.

Through its Web site and a program of free-loan
educational resources, the Gallery reaches audiences
across the nation and abroad. During the fiscal year,
more than 30 million viewers watched Gallery-produced
films, a selection augmented by reformatting from
slides to image CDs. New features on the Web site
included the film Awshile Gorky: Ararat (Excerpts), written
and directed by Atom Egoyan; a four-part video podcast
highlighting Leo Villareal’s light installation, Mulriverse;
a guide to the Pompeii exhibition for Latin teachers;
eleven audio podcasts of auditorium lectures and con-
versations; and Talk About Art, a short video in which
visitors share the importance of art in their lives.
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CONCERTS AND FILMS

Fifty concerts were presented in the Gallery’s sixty-
seventh season of weekly concerts, which ran from
October 2008 through September 2009. The East
Garden Court was the setting for a musical celebration
of the reopening of the American galleries in which
five U.S. choirs showcased the best of their American
repertoire.

The Gallery collaborated with the Library of
Congress and the National Academy of Sciences to
present Mendelssohn on the Mall, marking the 200ch
birthday of Felix Mendelssohn. Seven concerts were
presented at the Gallery as well as a talk on Mendelssohn’s
drawings and watercolors by Stephen Ackert, head
of the Gallery’s music department.

This vear, the Gallery launched a series of Beethoven’s
piano sonatas, with a performance by Austrian pianist
Till Fellner, presented under the sponsorship of the
Billy Rose Foundation in collaboration with the
Embassy of Austria and the Embassy Series. Other
standing-room-only performances included the tradi-
tional New Year concert by the National Gallery of
Art Orchestra under the baton of guest conductor
Mantred Knoop, the National Gallery of Art String
Quartet performing with renowned pianist Menahem
Presser, and the Euclid String Quartet.

To celebrate Women’s History Month, pianist and
composer Jessica Krash premiered Be Seeing You, a work
inspired by paintings in the collections of the Gallery
and the National Museum of Women in the Arts.
Pianist Leon Bates presented a program in honor of
African American History Month.

Fourteen concerts were presented in honor of exhi-
bitions in fiscal year 2009. Pianist Michele Campanella
presented a recital in connection with Pompeii and the
Roman Villa: Musica ad Rhenum and the National
Gallery of Art Vocal Ensemble each presented concerts
in honor of Jan Lievens: A Dutch Master Rediscovered;
and The Coast Orchestra and The Singer's Companye
performed music by Native American and other
American composers for George de Forest Brush: The
Indian Paintings. Soprano Ellen Hargis and lutenist Paul
O’Dette brought Dutch baroque music to the Gallery
to complement Pride of Place, as did the Gallery Vocal
Ensemble, Harmonious Blacksmith, and the Egidius
Kwartet from Amsterdam. Four concerts were presented
in conjunction with Looking In: Robert Frank’s “The
Americans.” The first of these was a presentation by com-
poser, performer, and Frank collaborator David Amram.
Additional concerts were performed by pianists Peter
Vinograde and Jessica Krash and the New York Chamber

Soloists. The Foundling Ensemble sang and played
music by Luigi Boccherini and other eighteenth-
century composers for the exhibition Luis Meléndez:
Master of the Spanish Still Life.

A Gallery talk on the exhibition The Art of Power
teatured recorded examples of music that would have
been heard in the court of Philip 11 of Spain as well as
a live performance in the East Garden Court.

The Gallery’s extended summer schedule of concerts
n the Sculpture Garden included performances by the
National Gallery of Art Brass Quintet and the Brazilian
Guitar Quartet.

Concerts are supported by funds bequeathed to the
Gallery by Wilham Nelson Cromwell and E Lammot
Belin, with generous additional support from The Billy
Rose Foundation and the Embassy of Spain. Additional
funding and gifts in kind were provided by the Ann and
Gordon Getty Foundation, the Embassy of Austria, the
Embassy Series, the Embassy of Switzerland, Friends of
Johannes Somary, the Gottesman Fund in memory of
Milton S. Gottesman, the Markow-Totevy Foundation,
the Randy Hostettler Living Room Fund, the Royal
Netherlands Embassy, the Royal Norwegian Embassy,
and the Washington Saengerbund.

The Gallery’s year-round program of film series,
premieres, documentaries, experimental cinema, and
ciné-concerts attracted large audiences every weekend.
To launch the quarterly film and lecture event New
Masters of European Cinema, French director Rabah
Ameur-Zaimeche presented Dernier maquis, a portrait
of an industrial suburb of Paris. Roman Ruins Rebuilt, a
series of seven screenings and discussions designed to
complement the exhibition Pompeii and the Roman Villa,
opened with a screening of the restored 1913 Italian
silent The Last Days of Pompeii, introduced by classicist
Martin Winkler. Josef von Sternberg, Master of Mood, a
series of restored prints from European and American
archives, included six early works by the master German
American director. Two other series rounded out the
fall season: David Lean Restored and Film Indians Now, a
joint program of the Gallery and the National Museum
of the American Indian, presented in conjunction with
George de Forest Brush.

Teuvo Tilio: Northern “Iones, a series presented jointly
with the Finnish National Audiovisual Archive in
Helsinki, highlighted the work of the Nordic director.
The Rebel Set: Film and the Beat Legacy was presented in
association with the exhibition Looking In. Spanish
filmmaker José Luis Guerin was interviewed by film
critic Jonathan Rosenbaum as part of the series Barcelona
Masters. Czech filmmaker Petr Zelenka discussed his
award-winning work The Brothers Karamazorv. Two
ciné-concerts featured restored prints and original piano
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scores by Stephen Horne of London and Burnett
Thompson of Washington, DC. A program of films by
Japanese director Nagisa Oshima opened at the Gallery
during the Cherry Blossom Festival.

The Gallery hosted several film premieres: Péter
Forgics’ Hunky Blues—the American Dream. James
Benning’s RR, Puccini and the Girl by Paolo Benvenuri,
Arne Glimcher’s Picasso and Brague Go to the Movies,
L’aimée by Arnaud Desplechin, and Agnes Vardas The
Beaches of Agnes. A blend of documentary, narrative,
and experimental media works, By and About Robert
Frank included a rare screening of Leaving Home, Coming
Home by Gerald Fox. A series of four film novels by
Czech filmmaker Karel Vachek, the film and lecture
series A Short History of Color, highlights from the
International Festval of Films on Art, and a tribute to
Anthology Film Archives in New York were also part
of the film lineup this year.

The Gallery again featured From Vault to Screen: New
Preservation from International Film Archives with six
ciné-concerts including a piano score ftor the recently
restored The Gaucho, and a 200th-birthday homage to
Edgar Allan Poe with restorations of The Raven and La
Chute de la Maison Usher, accompanied by Philip Carli
on piano. The digital restoration of Charles Sheeler’s

AR |

and Paul Strand’s Manhatta was introduced by Bruce
Posner, the independent film historian who supervised
the restoration project. Other highlights of the season
icluded Carl Theodor Dreyer: The Late Works, presented
in association with the Danish Film Institute and
National Film Archive; Salute to Le Festival des Three
Continents, a tribute to the thirneth anniversary of a
project that brings together fiction and documentary
from Africa, Asia, and South America; El Perro Negro:
Stories from the Spanish Civil War, an experimental
documentary by Péter Forgics; and Alain Resnais:
The Eloquence of Memory, a ten-part program of works

by the French director.

RESOURCES FOR SCHOLARLY
RESEARCH

In fiscal year 2009, the Gallery hbrary acquired 8,154
books and 1,906 auction catalogs, welcomed 2,068
visitors, provided 989 orientations, answered 23,332
reference inquiries, and shared 5,441 volumes with
other institutions through interlibrary loan. In addition,

twenty rare volumes, two photographic albums, and
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The film series A Short History of Color features the Paris studio of Georges Méligs,
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several photographic prints were lent to major Gallery
exhibitions and to exhibitions at other institutions.
Significant resources added to the reference collection
this year include Artistas asturtanos (2002), Dictionnaire
du salon d’automne (2006), and Dictionary of Greek and
Roman Antiquities (2008).

Approximately 297,000 photographs, negatives, and
images in microform, fifty-four CD-ROMs, twenty-six
rare photographic albums, and more than 14,000 digital
files were acquired during the fiscal year, bringing the
holdings to almost thirteen million images.

The Samuel H. Kress Foundation provided support for
two projects: a two-year grant to hire staff to conserve,
digitize, and catalogue the nearly 6,000 historic negatives
it donated to the Gallery in 1977 and another two-year
grant to continue a comprehensive conservation program.
In 2009, the conservator examined and treated forty-
four albums and 678 photographs. The grant also made
it possible to send ten unique photographic albums to

a book conservator for major treatment.

Paul Katz augmented the archive of artists’ portraits of

the New York art scene from the 1960s to the 1980s.
William Craft Brumfield donated new images of Russian
architecture. James Goode expanded the archive of the
public sculpture of Washington, DC. Ann Morgenstern
donated photographs of Netherlandish paintings.
Stephanie Blue provided digital files of German architec-
ture. Sheldon Grossman enriched the lTralian holdings.
The Frick Art Reference Library in New York and the
Hirshhorn Museum and Sculpture Garden, Smithsonian
Institution also donated photographic material.

Five exhibitions highlighted special aspects of the
Gallery library holdings and complemented Gallery
exhibitions. Documenting Discovery was shown in con-
Junction with Pompeii and the Roman Villa. Caught in the
Act: the Artist at work, Selections from the Paul Katz Archive
and Related Collections celebrated the acquisition of the
Katz images. The Lure and Lore of Antiquity: J. Carter
Brown Memorial Exhibition, Reading the Modern
Photography Book: Changing Perceptions, and Recent
Acquisitions: The Grega and Leo A. Daly I Fund for
Architectural Books were also on view.

The Gallery Archives managed the Gallery’s legacy
of historical documents while assisting more than
250) researchers.

A server-based archival repository was established for
digital documents and media to promote appropriate
preservation. Digital preservation scans of some 8,400
at-risk 35mm color slides were added to the digital
repository as were some 16,000 original digital photo-
graphs of Gallery exhibitions and events.

Some 250 recorded hours of Gallery events of the
past fifty vears were digitized and added to the secure

digital repository, including concert recordings from

the 1950s, Jacqueline Kennedy’s remarks for the Gallery’s

twentieth anniversary in 1961, and 1970 ceremonies
in honor of Sir Kenneth Clark.

Original motion pictures taken by the Gallery’s first
director David Finley were converted to digital media
through a grant from the Samuel H. Kress Foundation.

To improve the speed and accuracy of access to
archival holdings, the master database was enhanced
with the addition of some 31,000 new records for files
and individual items.

['he Gallery Archives developed a database for study
of the Chester Dale Collection, and received a grant
from the Samuel H. Kress Foundaton to examine the
feasibility of a database tool to illumine the Samuel H.
Kress Collection.

Interviews were conducted and recorded with Ross
Merrill, the Gallery's long-time chief of conservation;
Gennive Lewis, who has worked in the Gallery’s food
facilities for decades; and John Firmin, who worked on
the West Building construction nearly seventy years ago.

This year the European and American Study Rooms

for prints and drawings served 1,953 visitors.
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CENTER FOR ADVANCED STUDY
IN THE VISUAL ARTS

- Sy

he Center for Advanced Study in the
Visual Arts, founded in 1979, sponsors
the study of the visual arts in each of
its four program areas: fellowships,
research, publications, and scholarly
meetings.

During its twenty-ninth academic year, the Center
welcomed fellows from Australia, the Czech Republic,
France, Georgia, ltaly, Spain, Switzerland, the United
Kingdom, and the United States. Research topics
ranged from contemporary abstract painting in Korea
to collecting ancient sculpture in Britain, from the
Virgin of Loreto in colonial Mexico to the art of late
medieval Central Europe, and from architectural dec-
oration in early Renaissance Venice to the lithographs
of Achille Devéria in mineteenth-century Paris.

During the year, Samuel H. Kress Professor John
House played a key role as advisor and discussant.
Miguel Falomir completed the first year of his two-year
stay as Andrew W. Mellon professor, continuing his
work on Titian’s paintings in the Museo del Prado.

In the program of special meetings, the second part of
the symposium “Modernism and Landscape Architecture,
1890-1940" was held in collaboration with the
Zentrum fiir Gartenkunst und Landschaftsarchitekeur,
Leibniz Universitit Hannover and the Stiftung Bauhaus
Dessau, The Center also sponsored “Rediscovering
the Ancient World on the Bay of Naples,” a sympo-
sium held in conjunction with Pompeii and the Roman
Villa, and cosponsored, with the University of
Maryland, the Middle Atlantic Symposium in the
History of Art.

This year’s biennmal Wyeth conference, supported
by the Wyeth Foundation for American Art and
cosponsored by the National Museum of the
American Indian, was dedicated to the topic “Images
of the American Indian, 1600-2000." The conference

7as held in connection with George de Forest Brush at
the Gallery and Fritz Scholder: Indian/Not Indian at
the National Museum of the American Indian.

Edmond J. Safra Visiting Professor Nancy J.
Troy led a Safra colloquy entitled “Condition,
Conservation, Interpretation: Case Studies in
Twentieth-Century Art.” The Phillips Collection and

the Hirshhorn Museum loaned works by Piet
Mondrian for comparative study, and experts, including
Harry Cooper, curator of modern and contemporary
art, and Jay Krueger, senior conservator of modern
paintings, discussed works in the Gallery’s collection.

The A.W. Mellon Curatorial/Conservation
Colloquy in Modern and Contemporary Art, “The
Process of Painting: Manet in the 1860s,” paid close
attention to Manet’s Ragpicker from the Norton Simon
Museum and The Old Musician as well as prints from
the Gallery’s collection. Anne Hoenigswald, senior
conservator, and Kimberly Jones, associate curator of
French Paintings, led the discussion. Kress Professor
John House provided a concluding reflection for
Gallery staft.

The A.W. Mellon Lectures i the Fine Arts, deliv-
ered by T.J. Clark under the series title “Picasso and
Truth,” were recorded as an audio podcast and will
be published by Princeton University Press.

Three volumes in the series Studies in the History
of Art appeared. A Modernist Museum in Perspective:
The East Building, National Gallery of Art, edited by
Anthony Alofsin, gathers papers delivered at the 2004
symposium held on the twenty-fifth anniversary of
the opening of .M. Pei’s East Building. Dialogues in
Art History, from Mesopotamian to Modern: Readings for
a New Century includes essays first delivered as talks at
the 2006 symposium celebrating the twenty-fifth
anniversary of CASVA's fellowship program. The
Woodeut in Fifteenth-Century Europe gathers papers
delivered at a 2005 symposium generously supported
by the Samuel H. Kress Foundation through an
endowment in honor of Franklin D. Murphy and
held in conjunction with the exhibition Origins of
European Printmaking. All three books are distributed
by Yale University Press.

The Center is engaged in three long-term research
projects: Early Modern Sources in Translation: Carlo
Cesare Malvasia’s Felsina Pittrice; Keywords in American
Landscape Design; and The Early History of the Accademia
di San Luca, c. 1590—16335. For more on the Center’s
programs, see the annual report, Center 29, available
online at wuniznga.gov/resouirces /casva.shtm.
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he painting conservators completed
twenty-one major treatments, fifty-one
minor treatments, t\\-’m}t}-‘-ﬁ}ur maljur
examinations, and ninety minor exami-
nations, sixty of which included x-radio-

graphy and infrared reflectography.
Two large paintings dominated the studio for the
first half of the year, Neroccio de'Landi’s Madonna and
Child with Saint Anthony Abbot and Saint Sigismund and
Edouard Manet’s The Old Musician. Technical study of
materials and techniques, undertaken with Gallery
scientists, accompanied the treatment. Bagpipe Player by

Hendrick ter Brugghen was cleaned, revealing delicate
tones. Conservation work on Portrait of a Merchant and
Madonna and Child by Jan Gossaert was inspired by a
collegial study of his techniques. Other treatments
included Agnolo di Domenico del Mazziere’s Portrait of
a Youth and Bernard van Orley’s Marriage of the Virgin,
Jean Siméon Chardin’s Sull Life with Game, Joseph
Wright's Corinthian Maid, and John Singleton Copley’s
Anne Fairchild Bowler. Eugene Delacroix’s Christopher
Columbus and His Son at La Rdbida; two paintings by
Eugéne Boudin, On the Beach and On the Beach, Trouville;
Auguste Renoir’s Marie Murer; and two paintings by

Painungs conservator Cathy Metzger cleans the Gallery’s Bacchus and Ariadne by Giovanm Battista Tiepolo.
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Paul Gauguin, Breton. Girls Dancing, Pont-Aven and
Self Portrait Dedicated to Carricre, are among the French
paintings treated this year, Amedeo Modighani’s Madame
Amédée and Chaim Soutine and Frank Stella’s Flin Flon
[ were also treated.

I'he paintings conservators’ contributions to the
systematic catalogue volume on the French fifteenth
through eighteenth centuries were completed. Technical
entries on thirty-one paintings for the Dutch online
volume were completed, and the updating of ninety-two
entries in the published volume began.

Object conservators completed 138 major and minor
treatments and 583 exanmunations. Saint_John of the Cross

by Francisco Antonio Gijon was cleaned before traveling

to London for The Sacred Made Real exhibition, which
will be on view at the Gallery in 2010. The rechnical
examination, undertaken with Gallery scientists, was
published in the exhibition catalogue, contributing
to the understanding of fabrication methods used in
seventeenth-century Spain to create this full-size
polychrome sculpture.

More than two hundred Renaissance bronzes from
eight international collections have been analyzed in
the course of a study of the alloys and manufacturing
techmques of major artists of the period. Imual findings
on Jacopo Sansovino’s sacristy door at San Marco and
Riccio’s Paschal candlestick were published and pre-
sented at international symposia. Scientific research on
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The Rearing Horse and Mounted Warrior, attributed to
Leonardo da Vinei, in the collection of the Budapest
Museum ot Fine Arts contributed to the exhibition
The Budapest Horse: A Leonardo da Vinei Puzzle.

Two oversized works, the plaster Model for Abraham
Lincoln by Daniel Chester French and the wooden
Architectural model for the Lincoln Memorial by Henry
Bacon, were treated by conservators in preparation for
the Gallery’s exhibition Designing the Lincoln Memorial:
Daniel Chester French and Henry Bacon,

Following extensive historical and materials research,
An Entrance to the Paris Métropolitain by Hector Guimard
underwent major structural and surface treatment to
ensure its longevity in the Sculpture Garden. Preservation
of the Gallery’s outdoor sculptures continues, as conser-
vators improve the methods and materials of treatment
and maintenance.

The paper and photograph conservators completed
thirty-three major and 400 minor treatments and exam-
ined 2,249 prints, drawings, photographs, and books.

Many works of art were treated in conjunction with

Gallery exhibitions. Pride of Place: Dutch Cityscapes of

the Golden Age featured a 1703 pictorial plan of Delft

composed of thirty-two prints attached to form the

map. In preparation for Renaissance to Revolution: French
Drawings from the National Gallery of Art, 1500—1800,

conservators removed mold obscuring a gouache and
pastel landscape by Jean-Bapuste Pillement. A disfig-
ured albumen photograph by Henry Peach Robinson
was treated in advance of the 2010 exhibition The
Pre-Raphaelite Lens: British Photography and Painting,
1848—1875. In addition, conservators treated several
recent acquisitions, including the sixteenth-century
drawing by Abraham Bickhart.

Henri Matisse’s painted paper collages, including the
monumental La Négresse, were moved from the Tower
Gallery to a newly configured gallery on the East
Building Concourse. This complex operation required
the close collaboration of conservators, registrars, and
art handlers. The canvas-lined paper collage was removed
from its stretcher, rolled onto a wide diameter tube ftor
transport, and then reattached to the stretcher. A crew
of fifteen people, assisted by hydraulic lifts and movable
scaffolding, was required to hang it in the new locadon.
Matisse and his studio assistants painted the papers used
for the artist’s collages with brightly colored opaque
watercolors. One of the Gallery’s conservation scientists
studied the paints with a micro-fading tester and
provided estimates of the light fastness of the colors
so informed decisions could be made on the display
parameters for the collages.

The loans and exhibitions conservators made sig-
nificant contributions to the organization of fifteen
exhibitions during the year. For Pompeii and the Roman
Villa: Art and Culture Around the Bay of Naples, an exhibition
conservator collected sculpture and frescoes at various
archaeological sites. Both the Pompeii and Afghanistan:
Hidden “Treasures from the National Museum, Kabul exhibi-
tons required conservators to assist with installation and
de-installation at other venues. The staff completed 589
incoming and outgoing condition reports for works of
art in numerous special exhibitons,

Frame conservators completed 188 treatments. They
worked closely with the exhibition conservators to con-
struct fifteen microclimate packages for outgoing loans.
The matter/framers treated 2,176 works of art on paper
and photographs and oversaw the unframing and housing
of the prints acquired from Reba and Dave Williams and
The Print Research Foundation in Stamford, Connecticut.
They assembled 119 photographs in three large panels for
the exhibinon Looking In: Robert Frank’s “The Americans.”
They packed and installed Albrecht Diirer's monumental
Triumphal Arch of Maximillian for a traveling loan and
built and reassembled a panel for The Art of Power: Royal
Armor and Portraits from Imperial Spain.

The textile conservator undertook a thorough exam-
ination and treatment of Matisse’s Mourer Costume. Three
large tapestries were examined and installed for The Art of
Power exhibiton. In cooperation with the Straus Center,

Object conservators conduct ongoing technical research on Renaissance bronzes in collections around the world.
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Harvard Art Museums, the textile and scientific research

staft analyzed materials used by Robert Rauschenberg in
the series published by Gemini G.E.L. in 1974. Several
items were added to the artist materials collection, includ-
ing natural dyes prepared in a traditional manner. In
collaboration with the Gallery’s horticulturalists, the dye
plants Indiofera tinctoria, Polygonum tinctoria, Isatis tinctoria,
and Resede luteola were grown, harvested, and pressed.

Work begun last year on the development of in situ
analytical imaging tools, funded by the Andrew W,
Mellon Foundation, expanded with the addition of a
postdoctoral position funded by the Samuel H. Kress
Foundation. In recent research, information from visible
and infrared reflectance spectroscopy as well as from
luminescence imaging spectroscopy was successfully
combined to aid in the identification and mapping of
colorants in studies of pamntings, works on paper, and
illuminated manuscripts.

X-ray fluorescence spectrometry was used to char-
acterize artists’ materials, obtaining valuable technical
information for works in the exhibitions Pompeii and
the Roman Villa, The Budapest Horse, Judith Leyster,
and In the Darkroom: Photographic Processes. Studies of
pigments on fifteenth-century relief prints in the
collections of the Gallery and the Germanisches
Nationalmuseum and eighteen watercolors by John
Marin were completed using newly developed, non-
invasive, spectroscopic techniques.

[he study of modern synthetic organic pigments
continued, and two papers were accepted for publica-
tion. Paints used by Wassily Kandinsky in Improvisation

31 (Sea Battle) and the synthetic varnish on Modighani’s

Madame Amédée were analyzed using pyrolysis—gas
chromatography—mass spectrometry. Attenuated total
reflectance—Fourier transform infrared spectrometry
identified beeswax coatings on several photographs in
the collection. Improvements developed in the Gallery’s
micro-fading tester were presented at an international
meeting. Gallery scientists are also devising a single pro-
tocol for analysis